ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT PALMER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-203766

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to enforce a proffer agreement made between the State and appellant when it was binding on the parties?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant a directed verdict to the charges of homicide by child abuse, aiding and abetting the same, and unlawful conduct toward a child when the State failed to present any substantial circumstantial evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant committed the acts?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted along with a co-defendant, Julia Gorman, for homicide by child abuse, homicide by child abuse-aiding and abetting, and unlawful conduct toward a child at October 2008 and May 2010 terms of the Horry County Grand Jury.

On June 10, 2010, a hearing was had on the enforceability of a proffer agreement before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. He held that the solicitor was allowed to withdraw the proffer and that it was not an immunity agreement.

On January 11-12, 2011, a hearing was held before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman on appellant's motion to have appellant's two polygraphs admitted as being scientifically reliable. Appellant passed both a SLED polygraph and an independently performed polygraph. On May 26, 2011, a hearing was held on respondent's motion to amend Judge Hyman's order excluding evidence of the two polygraph examinations pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE and the Jones factors. Judge Hyman granted respondent's motion to amend the order.

On October 31, 2011, a hearing was held on the co-defendant's motion to sever, on various voir dire questions, an amendment of the indictments in reference to the date of the incident, a discussion on autopsy photos, and an in camera hearing on the admissibility of appellant's and the co-defendant's statement. The statements were held admissible.

On November 14-18 the jury trial proceeded. Both appellant and the co-defendant were found guilty as charged. They were both sentenced to thirty-five (35) years for homicide by child abuse, to twenty (20) years for aiding and abetting, and to ten (10) years for unlawful conduct toward a child.

This appeal follows.

FACTS

Appellant and Julia Gorman were indicted for homicide by child abuse for inflicting fatal injuries to a seventeen (17) month old male child on July 14, 2008. Appellant and Gorman were also indicted for aiding and abetting under the homicide by child abuse statute and for unlawful conduct toward a child in relationship to the injuries that occurred to the victim.

Just how did the victim come into the care of appellant and Julia Gorman? Appellant and Gorman lived together. The victim was Gorman's grandson. The victim's mother was Cesalee Carnaghie. She gave appellant and Gorman temporary guardianship of the victim so she could visit her husband, Richard Grimes, who was stationed in the military and the father of the victim.

Mr. Grimes said he was notified by phone on the night of July 14 by Gorman that the victim was on his way to the hospital because he was having a seizure when they tried to wake him up for dinner. (R. p. 81, line 9 – p. 82, line 1). Cesalee said she tried to call Gorman but she would either ignore the call or she would push the end button and never answer the call. When she got back to South Carolina, Cesalee went to the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC). Her husband and mother were there. Gorman said something about all the animosity that has been created. (R. p. 157, line 23 – p. 158, line 21). Cesalee had no idea what the animosity comment meant. (R. p. 160, lines 19-23). After consulting with the doctors, she and Richard decided to donate the victim's organs and cease life support. The victim died on July 16. Before he died they had him baptized. Cesalee invited and begged her mother to come, but she said she had other things to do. (R. p. 160, line 24 – p. 162, line 2).

On cross-examination Cesalee said that her mother did not handle stress well. She lets things bottle up and then goes into a fit of rage. (R. p. 181, line 17 – p. 182, line 2).

Dr. Jody Hutson testified that he was a family physician at Aynor Family Medicine. On July 1, Cesalee and Gorman brought in the victim because he had ant bites, allergies, and congestion. Otherwise, the victim looked normal. (R. p. 204, line 9 – p. 205, line 16). The doctor prescribed a steroid cream and antihistamines for the victim. (R. p. 207, lines 12-23). The victim was to be given ½ teaspoon a day of xyzal, the antihistamine. A side effect of the antihistamine is sedation. (R. p. 210, lines 6-25).

Gorman brought the victim back in to see the doctor on July 8 with complaints of nausea and vomiting. The victim had an emergency room visit the night before. Dr. Hutson examined him and he seemed very well. He was not concerned about him. (R. p. 211, line 8 – p. 214, line 16).

Lt. Rainbolt worked for Horry County Fire and Rescue. He was dispatched to the Gorman residence at 6:07 p.m. on July 14 and he arrived at 6:13 p.m. The dispatch mentioned shortness of breath or a seizure. (R. p. 235, line 2 – p. 236, line 19). When Rainbolt walked inside the residence, he saw appellant sitting on the couch holding the victim. (R. p. 237, lines 3-7). He said the victim was in a pretty grave condition and appeared to be having a seizure. (R. p. 238, lines 8-10). He asked appellant if the victim had been sick or had a fever. Appellant said, no. He said the victim was put down for a nap at 3:30 p.m. He had just risen from the nap and that was how they found him. (R. p. 239, lines 13-15).

Erica Rosenthal, a firefighter/paramedic, responded to the scene at 6:20 p.m. in medical transport unit. She testified the victim was “very lethargic, still seizing”... “He had

a right-sided gaze...” The victim was put in the ambulance and Gorman rode in the front passenger seat. (R. p. 253, line 8 – p. 254, line 9). She said that the victim “had suffered fire ant bites previously in the week and was treated for that.” She said “he had not been sick, he had not struck his head, he had not fallen...” (R. p. 254, lines 22-25). Later, Gorman told her that the victim had been whiny and lethargic since the ant bites and she also said she had “raised several children in her lifetime and never seen such a bad one.” She said that the statement stuck with her. (R. p. 256, line 18 – p. 257, line 13). Rosenthal did not notice any bruises on the victim. (R. p. 258, lines 17-22).

Tina Millan was a registered nurse in the emergency room at Conway Hospital where the victim was taken. She noticed the victim was unresponsive, posturing, and seizing, he had no response whatsoever and his pupils were dilated. The prognosis was very critical. (R. p. 264, lines 6-25). Gorman said the victim had not fallen or anything. (R. p. 266, lines 4-5). The nurse noticed that Gorman “was very anxious, pacing back and forth... seemed very upset.” Appellant was “very concerned about the child. While the child was seizing he actually wanted to approach the bed and I told him he could go ahead and talk to the child and he was holding his hand.” At first Gorman did not do the same but then she later did. (R. p. 267, lines 7-22).

A CAT scan of the victim revealed cranial skull fractures and bleeding in the back of the head. That sort of trauma could be caused by a fall from a second story building or being thrown out of a car or any kind of abuse to a child. Nurse Millan also saw some bruising on parts of the body. (R. p. 271, line 5 – p. 272, line 19). At 10:33 p.m. the victim was transferred by air flight to MUSC. (R. p. 275, lines 6-14).

Dr. Cacace was the emergency room doctor at Conway Medical Center. Gorman seemed to indicate a possible cause for the victim's condition was the victim's mother who had left him a week earlier. (R. p. 293, lines 1-6). The doctor said the head trauma was severe, impending death. (R. p. 295, lines 17-23). The injury was not accidental. (R. p. 296, lines 15-16). The victim was posturing due to neurological trauma. (R. p. 299, lines 9-13).

Dr. Donna Roberts testified that it would take severe traumatic force to cause the victim's skull fractures. (R. p. 335, line 22 – p. 336, line 1). A person with this type of injury would be severely symptomatic immediately. Symptoms would be a loss of consciousness, alteration in breathing, and likely seizures. The child would not be able to walk, move, play with toys, or eat. A person could foam at the mouth. (R. p. 345, lines 3-14). She said there were fractures on both sides of the head but she could not give an opinion as to what caused them. (R. p. 349, lines 1-2). If the victim had been checked on around 4:30 and was sleeping fine the injury would have to have occurred after that. (R. p. 353, lines 13-22). If someone came up to the victim and hit him on both sides of the head it could cause the injury if severe force was used. (R. p. 354, lines 17-25). If the victim had been shaken and the shaking were violent the injury could have been caused if there was also an impact. (R. p. 362, line 25 – p. 363, line 7).

Dr. Cynthia Schandl, a forensic pathologist at MUSC, testified that the victim had fractures on both sides of the head. (R. p. 382, line 20). She could not tell if there had been one big hit or two hits, one on either side of the head. (R. p. 387, lines 13-21). The cause of death was inflicted blunt head trauma. The manner of death was homicide. (R. p. 393, line

12 – p. 394, line 12). On cross-examination, she said attempts to resuscitate the victim could cause bruising. (R. p. 402, lines 3-8).

Dr. Ann Abel, an expert in child abuse pediatrics at MUSC, testified next. She said the degree of force inflicted on the victim was massive and she would expect him to be unconscious immediately. (R. p. 417, lines 21-24). The victim had multiple bruises, some of which were not typical of normal falling. Some of the bruises could very well have been accidental. She said one cannot date or time a bruise by its color. (R. p. 418, line 13 – p. 427, line 25). She put in her final report that the victim's injury was caused by inflicted head trauma. (R. p. 432, lines 19-24). She said Gorman told her the victim had severe developmental and behavioral problems but his records did not indicate those problems. Gorman also said the victim was clingy and whiny and wanted to be held all the time. (R. p. 435, line 17 – p. 436, line 7).

On cross-examination, Dr. Abel testified that the victim's bruises could have occurred the same times as the skull fractures. The victim's skull fractures could have occurred within one (1) hour of him being seen by EMS. And it would take less than a minute for the injuries to occur. If a layperson did not see the damage being inflicted, they would have no knowledge how it was done. (R. p. 437, line 25 – p. 440, line 9). A risk factor to a toddler is somebody with a low tolerance to stress and a low tolerance to the demands of a toddler. (R. p. 440, line 18 – p. 441, line 11). On redirect, Dr. Abel said the injuries occurred to the victim within three (3) hours of his being taken to the emergency room. (R. p. 455, line 24 – p. 456, line 18).

Marsha Bessant, a friend of appellant's and Gorman's, testified that Gorman was very stressed because of financial problems with appellant not working. (R. p. 466, line 21 – p. 467, line 3).

Brad Whiteis was a supervisor for the child protective services investigations at the Department of Social Services (DSS). He briefly spoke to Gorman over the phone after the victim was at MUSC. While she worked during the day, appellant took care of the victim. On Monday the 14th, she got home around 3:00 p.m. She said the victim was asleep. She checked on him shortly thereafter. She said the victim was acting weird. Foamy saliva was coming from his mouth. When she noticed this, she took the victim to appellant and told him something was wrong. She said after the victim started to have some form of seizure. She called 911 at 6:06 p.m. (R. p. 498, line 18 – p. 499, line 13).

Yvette Brown, an investigator with DSS, was assigned the case and she went to MUSC. She noticed bruises on the victim's thigh and on his lower legs. She asked Gorman about the bruises and she said the victim likes to pinch himself. (R. p. 509, line 13 – p. 510, line 1). Gorman described the victim while he was in her care as being cranky, underweight, undernourished, and that his head had a squishy feeling to it like it didn't have bone structure. Ms. Brown thought that was odd. (R. p. 513, lines 18-24). When she talked to appellant, she observed that "he was just stunned, bewildered." She asked him what had taken place on July 14 that the victim ended up in the hospital. He said he did not know. He just didn't know. (R. p. 516, line 18 – p. 517, line 7).

Detective Troxell with the Horry County Police Department testified that he interviewed appellant and Gorman on July 18. Gorman brought a notebook with her to the interview with issues she was having with her daughter. The detective found this

information irrelevant because the victim was injured after his mother had left. (R. p. 555, line 7 – p. 556, line 9).

Appellant was interviewed first. He testified that Gorman got up around 4:45 a.m. on Monday, July 14 because she had to be at work around 6:00 a.m. Appellant woke the victim up around 9:30 a.m. The victim was tired, as though he never slept. Appellant took him to the kitchen and got him something to eat. Around 11:30 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. he fed the victim lunch. Again the victim seemed tired and appellant let him lie down for about 30 minutes to see if he would sleep. The victim kept whining and held his hands out to be picked up. Appellant picked him up and took him to the living room to watch some television. The victim was whining and tired acting. Around 3:30 appellant laid the victim down again and he went to sleep. Gorman came home around 4:15 p.m. They both checked on the victim and he was asleep. (R. p. 565, line 7 – p. 567, line 23).

Appellant and Gorman let the victim sleep as they prepared dinner. They sat down around 6:00 p.m. to eat. After dinner, Gorman went to get the victim and she found him having a seizure. Appellant said the victim's head was limp, his arms were bowed up, it looked like a seizure. He had never seen anything like it. He told Gorman to call 911 and she did. The paramedics came and took the victim to Conway Medical. (R. p. 568, line 2 – p. 569, line 8).

Appellant testified Gorman had been upset with her job on an almost daily basis. (R. p. 575, lines 6-20). When Gorman comes home from work, she takes over caring for the victim. (R. p. 575, line 21 – p. 576, line 9). He did not know what happened to the victim. He did not hurt him. (R. p. 577, lines 19-22). Detective Troxell told appellant he was not

accusing him of anything. He did not think he had a malicious bone in his body. He had never been in trouble before. (R. p. 581, line 23 – p. 582, line 2).

The detective told appellant he showed compassion as opposed to Gorman who was stone cold and straight faced when he talked to her. (R. p. 592, lines 6-10). Appellant again said he did not do anything to the victim. He just tried to care for him. (R. p. 594, lines 24-25).

The next interview was with Gorman. She testified that Monday morning she got up 4:30 to 4:45. She checked on the victim and he was sleeping well. She went to work. Appellant called her around 9:00 to 9:30 a.m. to tell her he woke the victim up and fed him breakfast. Appellant called again later when he fed him lunch. She got home from work around 4:00 to 4:30 p.m. and checked on the victim. He was sleeping and breathing fine. She and appellant checked on him a little later and everything was still fine. She cooked dinner and they decided to eat before getting the victim. Appellant took the dog out and she went back in the bedroom to wake the victim up. She said the victim was “making the really strange noises and slack looking, saliva.” Something happened between dinner and 6:00 p.m. after which she called 911 on appellant’s phone. (R. p. 617, line 17 – p. 740, line 3).

Gorman testified that on Saturday she got home from work around 3:00 p.m. She said she “walked in the door, of course, victim’s making his whine, whine, whine, you know. It just gets louder when I get home, but that’s just the way he is, you know. If, if I walk in the door he starts, I mean he, he, he makes noises but it just seems like when a woman walks in it just gets more loud and he comes over and starts trying to climb up my leg and cause he wants to be carried and we don’t carry him because we are trying to break a habit.” (R. p. 624, line 11 – p. 625, line 8).

Detective Troxell confronted Gorman with jail time and he noted that was the first tear he had seen from her. (R. p. 629, lines 4-46). Later, Troxell told her, "there's not a bit of remorse coming from you..." (R. p. 635, lines 17-18).

Detective Weaver asked Gorman if appellant gets frustrated and she said no that he had better patience than she did. She had to walk out of the house because of the victim's whining and crying. The whining and crying does not faze appellant. (R. p. 660, line 13 – p. 661, line 6). Gorman then admitted she may have shook the victim but she did not think she did it hard. (R. p. 661, line 7 – p. 666, line 7; R. p. 669, lines 13-15; R. p. 670, lines 4-7). She then demonstrated how she shook him but claimed she did not shake him on Monday. (R. p. 671, lines 7-22; R. p. 674, lines 1-2; R. p. 683, lines 8-24). She said the victim cries everyday, he is cranky everyday, he whines everyday. (R. p. 676, lines 18-19). If she shook the victim, she did not tell appellant. (R. p. 688, lines 13-14).

On cross-examination Detective Troxell admitted appellant answered all questions and was cooperative. He said if appellant was not in the residence when Gorman shook the victim, or whatever she did to him, he would not have any knowledge of it. (R. p. 697, line 7 – p. 698, line 2). There was no evidence to show appellant was present when the injuries occurred. (R. p. 698, lines 7-12). Troxell admitted appellant freely consented to a search of the trailer. He admitted there was no direct evidence that appellant was the one who inflicted the injuries and Gorman was adamant that appellant had not inflicted any injuries. (R. p. 699, line 22 – p. 700, line 25).

After the state rested, and the judge denied the directed verdict motion, appellant called Adrian Robertson to testify. She worked with appellant. She had an eleven (11) year old daughter who was non-verbal who had seizures and mental and physical disabilities.

Appellant was very caring for her. (R. p. 731, line 14 – p. 733, line 28). Ms. Robertson also had a five (5) year old daughter and a nine (9) month old daughter. Appellant was around them everyday at the office and interacted with them. She had no hesitation in having appellant around them or in leaving them alone with him. (R. p. 734, line 7 – p. 735, line 18).

James Palmer, appellant's father, testified that appellant interacted well with his own son Dylan. Appellant was good natured and never hit Dylan. (R. p. 742, lines 4-24). Appellant brought the victim over on Sunday, July 13th, to go swimming. Mr. Palmer said the victim was very pale and did not show any bruises. (R. p. 743, lines 5-12). On cross-examination, Mr. Palmer was asked if he knew appellant's ex-wife had filed a restraining order against appellant and he did not know about it. (R. p. 749, lines 3-25).

Appellant's mother, Gail Palmer, testified that she too observed the victim on Sunday with his swimming trunks on. She did not see any bruises. (R. p. 757, line 22 – p. 758, line 10).

Co-defendant Gorman was the last person to testify. She again brought up her strange concern over the victim's head being "soft and squishy." (R. p. 780, line 21 – p. 781, line 11). On Monday, July 14, she said she got up around 4:15 a.m. She checked on the victim and he was asleep. She went on to work. (R. p. 787, lines 16-22). She clocked out at work 3:45 p.m. to go home. (R. p. 790, lines 8-12). She got home around 4:30 – 4:45. (R. p. 790, lines 20-25). She checked on the victim and he was asleep.

Now, after over three (3) years, her story started to change. She claimed that she left the house and went to the IGA to get something for dinner then she stopped at the video store and picked up a movie. She came home and cooked dinner and she and appellant

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