ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2011-203766

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Robert Palmer,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Trial court did not err in refusing to enforce the proffer agreement between Appellant and the State because Appellant breached the agreement. Additionally, Appellant has demonstrated no prejudice from the failure to enforce the agreement and has no relief to which he is entitled.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to enforce the proffer agreement entered into between Appellant and the State. Appellant breached the agreement by failing to be fully forthcoming with the information about the toddler's death and, as a result, the agreement was rendered null and void under its terms. Further, the State completed the extent of its part of the agreement in considering the charges it brought against Appellant. Appellant has not demonstrated any relief he would be entitled to under the proffer agreement he failed to receive, and as a result has not demonstrated how he was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to enforce the agreement.

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. See State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct.App.2004).

"Our case law unequivocally establishes agreements between defendants and the State should be interpreted 'in accordance with general contract principles.'" State v. Wills, 390 S.C. 139, 144, 700 S.E.2d 266, 268 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 677, 623 S.E.2d 661, 664 (Ct. App. 2005)). "The court must enforce an unambiguous contract according to its terms, regardless of the contract's wisdom or folly, or the parties' failure to guard their rights carefully." Compton, 366 S.C.

at 678, 623 S.E.2d at 665 (citing Ellis v. Taylor, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994)). “Where language used in an instrument is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, such language determines the force and effect of the instrument. Language which is perfectly clear determines the full force and effect of the document.” State v. Gates, 299 S.C. 92, 95, 382 S.E.2d 886, 887 (1989) (internal citations omitted).

In the instant case, the parties entered into a proffer agreement which was neither a plea agreement nor an immunity agreement. The proffer agreement required, *inter alia*:

1. Robert Andrew Palmer shall submit himself to agent(s) of the State for the purpose of the briefing regarding this matter and all other matters materially bearing on this matter. He shall be completely truthful concerning his involvement in this matter, and completely truthful concerning the involvement of all other individuals in this matter. He shall truthfully and completely answer all questions posed by agent(s) of the State bearing materially on this matter, and shall provide without prompting all information concerning this matter in a complete and truthful manner even if such information is not elicited by agent(s) of the State by a direct question. Any and all information provided by Robert Andrew Palmer under the terms of the proffer may be recorded in any fashion at the election of the State

(Proffer Agreement; R. 994). The agreement clearly required Appellant to provide all information concerning the homicide of the toddler without the State having to ask direct questions. Therefore, when Appellant failed to provide all the relevant information regarding the time line of the toddler's death, he breached the provisions of the proffer agreement. It was only after the State learned of a different time line from the pathologist and radiologist that Appellant was open to questioning about the actual events which took place leading to the death of the toddler. (June 10T. 2-3; 5; R. 2-3; 5). Appellant's counsel, in her motion to enforce the proffer agreement, states: “Mr. Palmer met with

[Appellant's counsel], and a brief summary of **additional details** concerning the new time line was given to Assistant Solicitor Lively and an invitation to re-interview Mr. Palmer was made.” (Motion to Enforce Proffer Agreement page 2; R. 996) (emphasis added). The State, therefore, had a right to withdraw from the proffer agreement because under provision 5 “Violation of any term of this Proffer renders all terms null and void.” (Proffer Agreement; R. 994).

Further, the proffer agreement only established a single obligation on the part of the State. It read:

The State shall consider the extent and degree of cooperation of Robert Andrew Palmer in the election of charges and at the sentencing of Robert Andrew Palmer, and shall advise the Court of Robert Andrew Palmer's extent and degree of cooperation in connection with this matter. . . .

(Proffer Agreement page 2; R.995). As the trial court found, the State had every right to charge Appellant as it deemed appropriate. There was absolutely no requirement the State charge Appellant only with a lesser included offense or that he not be tried as a codefendant with Gorman. The only requirement was for the State to consider his cooperation in reaching its decision. There is no evidence this was not done, especially in light of the State's belief that Appellant was not entirely forthcoming regarding the time frame and the events leading up to the toddler's death. As a result, Appellant cannot demonstrate how he was prejudiced, or show any provision of the proffer agreement with which the State failed to fully comply.

In his brief, appellant sets forth four ways in which he allegedly was prejudiced. First, he was not allowed to testify against his co-defendant, and instead, was a co-defendant tried at the same time as Gorman. However, the proffer agreement makes it

clear that he was only testifying on behalf of the State “upon being called upon to do so.” (Proffer Agreement; R. 994). Further, nothing prohibited Appellant from testifying at trial either for or against his co-defendant. Therefore, Appellant did not detrimentally rely on the agreement and was not prejudiced in this manner.

Second, Appellant contends the State had to elect favorable charges in return for his cooperation. This completely misstates the obligation of the State under the proffer agreement. As stated above, the State merely had to consider his cooperation, and absolutely no restrictions existed on the charges which could be brought against Appellant. There was never a promise Appellant would only be charged with a lesser included offense instead of being charged with homicide by child abuse. Appellant did not detrimentally rely on the agreement, nor was he prejudiced by the State’s withdrawal.

Third, appellant contends the State offered no help at sentencing contrary to the agreement. The State was not obligated to offer any specific help at sentencing or make any type of recommendation at sentencing. Its sole obligation was to make the court aware of the extent and degree of cooperation by Appellant. This was thoroughly accomplished both pretrial and by Appellant’s counsel during sentencing.¹ As a result, Appellant did not detrimentally rely on the proffer agreement and was not prejudiced in any regard by its withdrawal.

Fourth, Appellant contends the State was able to gain information through their debriefing of Appellant and their interviews to try to make a case against Appellant. The proffer agreement specifically allowed the State to use any information obtained during

¹ The State notes that Appellant's cooperation only went so far because it was only after the time frame was condensed that he offered to be interviewed for a third time to provide additional details which he was obligated to provide from the beginning. Because of the pretrial motion, the court was well aware of Appellant's cooperation or lack thereof. (June 10 T.2-5; R. 2-5).

the interviews. Further, the State submitted appellant did not provide them any significant information. Finally, the State did not offer any recordings or other statements by Appellant from the interviews during trial. Accordingly, Appellant could not have detrimentally relied or been prejudiced in this manner.

Finally, Appellant has not demonstrated any relief to which he is entitled. As mentioned, the agreement did not entitle him to testify unless the State chose to call him. It did not entitle him to be charged with a specific crime or receive a specific sentence. Accordingly, even if the agreement was enforced, the State could still try Appellant for the same charges, using the same evidence, and ask for the same sentence considerations as it did in the instant case. As a result, if the agreement is enforced, there is no relief which Appellant can receive which he has not already received.

Therefore, the State submits the trial court did not err or abuse his discretion in refusing to enforce the proffer agreement any further than it had already been performed.

II. Trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict. The State presented ample evidence the toddler was viciously and intentionally struck on both sides of his head. The time line presented by the doctor's testimony included a significant period of a day in which Appellant was home alone with the child. Further, if the statements and testimony of the co-defendant are believed, then Appellant was the only other person who could have committed the actions.

"When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477-478 (2004). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." Id. A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011).

In relevant part, section 16-3-85 of the South Carolina Code provides:

- (A) A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person:
 - (1) causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life; or

(2) knowingly aids and abets another person to commit child abuse or neglect, and the child abuse or neglect results in the death of a child under the age of eleven.

(B) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) "child abuse or neglect" means an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child's physical health or welfare;

(2) "harm" to a child's health or welfare occurs when a person:

(a) inflicts or allows to be inflicted upon the child physical injury, including injuries sustained as a result of excessive corporal punishment. . . .

It is clear from the statutory definition that to be guilty of homicide by child abuse or aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse one does not have to actually inflict the injury, but must either by act or omission all the injury to be inflicted. The evidence demonstrated clearly the child died as the result of trauma that was intentionally and severely inflicted. Every doctor indicated it would require severe trauma to cause the type of injury and it was not contested the toddler died as a result of his head injuries.

The only issue Appellant contends the State failed to prove is whether Appellant can be identified as one guilty of homicide by child abuse. This case is remarkably similar to the case of State v. Smith, 359 S.C. 481, 597 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004), in which this Court found the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury when two people could have been responsible for the injuries. In Smith, this Court explained:

The statute makes clear that child abuse may be committed by either an act or an omission which causes harm to a child's physical health. Additionally, harm to a child's health occurs when a person either inflicts, or allows to be inflicted physical injury upon a child. Given the evidence on the severity and number of injuries to Jordyn, the fact that both Smith and Celeste were the only adults with Jordyn during the time frame that she received her injuries and were the only people who could have possibly caused her injuries, the evidence that her impairment should have

been obvious to these two adults, along with the evidence of possible cover-up, we find there was sufficient evidence of an act or omission by Smith wherein he inflicted or allowed to be inflicted physical harm to Jordyn resulting in Jordyn's death.

Smith, 359 S.C. at 492, 597 S.E.2d at 894. (internal citations omitted). This Court found where the evidence indicated one of the two adults clearly caused the injury, the fact the exact identity of the individual who physically caused the harm is not necessary to support sending the case to the jury.

According to the testimony of Appellant and his co-defendant, Appellant was home the majority of the day alone with the toddler. Appellant's co-defendant merely looked in on the toddler in the morning and when she arrived home that evening. She did not go into the room or near the child. She testified he appeared to be sleeping, but she did not verify the condition of the child.

In the instant case, Dr. Abel and others testified the injury had to happen the day the toddler was taken to the emergency room. The doctors all testified the injury was severe and caused by blunt force trauma intentionally inflicted to the child. Further, they testified the child suffered fractures to the skull on both the left and right sides, as well as significant bleeding on the brain, and death of brain tissue.

Dr. Abel further testified if an observer did not see the force applied or the symptomology, they may not appreciate that something happened to the child. (T.541; R. 440). She testified it could be possible for an observer to differentiate a child that is sleeping from one that is unconscious as a result of a head trauma if they were not aware of the trauma. (T.558; R. 457). Further, she specifically testified:

[T]he signs of head trauma are changing consciousness, sometime seizures, sometimes breathing abnormalities.

They, they don't all happen at once, so a child could have a head injury and be quietly breathing and apparently sleeping but actually unconscious and it would not be possible for a person who didn't know that they had had the head injury to realize it until later, until something more started happening.

(T.559; R. 458).

As a result, it is possible the injury could have been inflicted by Appellant prior to Appellant's co-defendant getting home and, if the co-defendant did not notice anything wrong from the doorway when she looked in on the toddler, then she would not have known something happened to the child until she went to pick up the child. Appellant's co-defendant testified she did not enter the room, but instead merely observed the child appearing to be asleep. She testified when she went into the room to pick up the child was when she noticed something wrong. Prior to this time, Appellant was the only one home throughout the day with the child. Accordingly, the evidence when viewed in the light most favorable to the State shows Appellant either inflicted the harm.

The only opportunity Appellant's co-defendant had to inflict the harm would be when she entered the room to pick up the child. There is no testimony indicating any events took place during this time which would have caused the severe blunt force trauma to both sides of the toddler's head. The doctors indicated the trauma would be severe and as a result, had something happened during this time Appellant would have known. Appellant arrived in seconds when called by his co-defendant and so was within very close proximity to where she was with the child. At that distance, he should have known something occurred or was occurring if his co-defendant was the one who physically harmed the child. In the light most favorable to the State, he either inflicted the harm which went undiscovered until Appellant's co-defendant picked up the child, or he knew

and allowed the injury to be inflicted. In either situation, there was evidence sufficient to send the case to the jury for its consideration.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.